Melan-A: A New Immunomarker for Uveal Melanoma

Alexandra Peschlow Department of Pathology McGill University, Montreal March 1999

"A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science."

> Copyright © Alexandra Peschlow 1999



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre reference

Our file Notre reference

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-50855-2



ABSTRACT

Melanoma-associated antigen (MAA) MART-1/Melan-A has been described in human cutaneous melanoma. The first objective of this study was to investigate the expressivity of MART-1/Melan-A in primary uveal melanomas. 56 formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded human uveal melanomas were analyzed by immunohistochemistry. MART-1/Melan-A was found to be positive in 73% of cases, with almost 50% of tumours showing a diffuse involvement. The second objective was to investigate the expression of MAA Mart-1/Melan-A and gp100 in primary and metastatic human uveal melanoma lesions developed in albino rabbits. MART-1/Melan-A and gp100 were expressed in all primary lesions, with mainly focal distribution. Conversely, MART-1/Melan-A and gp100 exhibited a homogeneous pattern in the metastatic lesions, which implies upregulation of these antigens during disease progression. It may be postulated that MART-1/Melan-A and gp100 would be effective immunomarkers for immunotherapeutic strategies in human uveal melanoma.

L'antigène associé au mélanome (MAA) Mart-1/Melan-A a été décrit dans le mélanome cutané humain. L'objectif premier de cette étude visait à enquêter sur l'expressivité du MART-1/Melan A dans les mélanomes uvéaux primaires. 56 mélanomes uvéaux humains fixés dans le formol et encastrés dans la paraffine ont été analysés par immunohistochimie. On a découvert que le MART-1/Melan-A a été positif dans 73% des cas, avec presque 50% des tumeurs démontrant une expression diffuse. Le deuxième objectif fut d'enquêter sur l'expression des AAM Mart-1/Melan-A et gp100 dans les lésions de mélanomes uvéaux humains primaires et métastatiques développés chez les lapins albinos. MART-1/Melan-A et gp100 ont été présents dans toutes les lésions primaires avec une distribution principalement focale. Réciproquement, dans les lésions métastatiques, MART-1/Melan-A et gp100 démontraient une distribution homogène, ce qui implique une augmentation de ces antigènes pendant la progression de la maladie. On peut considérer que MART-1/Melan-A et gp100 seraient des immunomarqueurs efficaces dans l'élaboration de stratégies immunothérapeutiques du mélanome uvéal humain.

"Learning is not attained by chance. it must be sought for with ardour and attended to with diligence."

· Abigail Adams

"You gain strength, courage, and confidence by every experience in which you really stop to look fear in the face...You must do the thing you think you cannot do..."

· Anna Eleanor Roosevell

"Our works do not ennoble us: but we must ennoble our works."

- Meister Eckhart

When I first entered the Pathology Department, two years ago, I had no idea, how many people I would encounter who would affect my philosophy on life, expand my knowledge, and add wisdom to it all. One of the most important lessons I have learned is that you cannot work alone in this world. It is through the efforts of many that one is able to succeed. This project is a symbol of this lesson, for it would not have been possible without the contribution of countless individuals, and I am grateful to have had the opportunity to work with every one of them.

I would like to start by thanking three people in particular. Dr. Burnier, who has been my supervisor for this project, for sharing his knowledge and passion of uveal melanoma with me. He has given me many opportunities to develop my scientific knowledge, through his excellent teachings and by encouraging my participation in workshops and conferences. Also, this project would not have been possible without the financial assistance provided by Dr. Burnier and the Department of Ophthalmology; to Dr. Koenekoop, who helped me build a foundation in scientific research and helped me develop my critical reasoning; to Dr. Zorychta for being my support post in both my personal and professional life and showing me that perseverance and dedication are keys to overcoming obstacles. I am thankful to them all for the direct scientific influence they have had on this work as well as the many hours of editorial assistance they provided. Most importantly, however, I am grateful for their guidance, honesty, and friendship.

I would also like to express my appreciation to so many others for their endless kindness. To our colleagues at the University of Valladolid, Spain for their work with the animal model, especially, Dr. Saornil, Dr. Morilla-Grasa, and Rosario Lopez. At McGill, I give special thanks to Kathy and Carmen for all their help with the immunohistochemistry, as well as, to Cecile and her team in histology; to Jacqui not only for her incredible photographic talent, but also for her genuine friendship; to Magali, who has been there from the beginning, always willing to teach me laboratory techniques and answer a million questions; to Edith for her editorial help and her joyous nature; to the staffs of both the Departments of Pathology and Ophthalmology for helping me through all the little details; and to all the residents, fellows, and graduate students I have encountered, for their support, friendship, and laughter.

My acknowledgements would not be complete without a word to those people who stand by me day after day. I would like to thank Kevin for his endearing support and belief in me; as well as my mother for her strength and vision; and my father for his generosity and integrity. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my entire family for their unconditional love and encouragement. I could not have made it this far without them.

A wise man once told me that what truly counts is making a contribution to this world, regardless of the size. This project represents a small chapter within an ever-expanding novel. There is still so much work to do, so many roads to travel, but we hope we have added a few footprints in the sand.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

Justification	6
Hypothesis	9
Objectives	10
Literature Review	11
Uveal Melanoma Risk Factors Clinical Presentation Histopathology Immunohistochemical Profile Prognostic Factors - Clinical - Histopathological Metastasis, Treatment, and Survival	11 14 15 16 19 20 21 21
Uveal Melanoma Animal Models	26
Tumour Markers Tumour-Specific Shared Antigens Antigens Encoded by Mutated Genes Melanoma-Associated Antigens	27 28 28 29

PATIENTS, MATERIALS & METHODS

Human Studies	32
Animal Studies	32
Immunohistochemistry	35
Grading of the Immunostain	36
Cell Type Classification	37

RESULTS

Human Studies	38
Patient Characteristics	38
Immunostaining of Primary Uveal Melanoma	38
Melan-A Staining According to Cell Type	40
Animal Studies	41
Albino Rabbit Characteristics	41
Immunostaining of Primary Uveal Melanoma	41
Immunostaining of Metastatic Uveal Melanoma	43

DISCUSSION

Human Studies	44
Animal Studies	47
Future Implications on Clinical Management of Uveal Melanoma	51
The Importance of Importance for I level Malanama	57
The importance of immunotherapy for Uveal Melanoma	52

CONCLUSIONS

REFERENCES

56

INTRODUCTION

Justification	6
Hypothesis	9
Objectives	10
Literature Review	11

JUSTIFICATION

Uveal melanoma is the most common primary intraocular tumour among adults, affecting approximately 7 people per million per year¹. It is second in frequency only to retinoblastoma which is predominantly a childhood tumour². However, if we examine the evolution of our understanding of retinoblastoma, it is evident that research and education has allowed the management of retinoblastoma to improve from being an almost uniformly fatal disease to one in which 95% of patients are cured³.

The same is not true for uveal melanoma, as patient survival from uveal melanoma has not significantly improved over the last four decades⁴. There is a 70% survival rate after 5 years and a 50% survival rate after ten years⁵. This is mainly due to the fact that metastasis from uveal melanoma frequently occurs many years after removal of the primary tumour with the first evidence of metastasis being discovered, on average, at an interval of 6.5 years⁶. Furthermore, there is no metastatic staging for uveal melanoma since this tumour metastasizes hematogeneously, and lymph node involvement occurs secondary to hepatic metastases. Thus a method of recognizing those patients who have micrometastases but who do not have clinical metastatic disease would be of great therapeutic benefit.

In 1978 Zimmerman and co-workers⁷ challenged the effectiveness of enucleation in preventing metastatic disease and hypothesized that enucleation may promote metastasis. This prompted the search for better diagnostic techniques and less invasive forms of treatment. As a result, it is now possible to diagnose patients

early and more adequately through fundoscopy, ultrasound and CT scans. Also, the advent of radiation therapy has provided hope to prevent enucleation.

However, progress to free the patient of this tumour remains unchanged and the questions remain. Why does local control of the tumour not prevent metastasis? Why does metastasis occur so late after the removal of the primary tumour? How is it possible for uveal melanoma cells to remain in the body without causing harm for so many years? What causes them to one day begin growing and invading? What are the mechanisms involved? In an attempt to answer these questions, research has begun to focus more importantly on the patient's immunological response to the tumour rather than tumour biology itself. The goal is to understand how a patient's immune system responds to the disease and then to devise immunotherapeutic strategies against the tumour cells. In order to accomplish this understanding, it is necessary to study animal models of uveal melanoma. The albino rabbit implanted with human uveal melanoma cells is the most effective model, at present, since it produces high numbers of animals with metastatic disease⁸.

The premise of immunotherapy is to elicit in vivo cytotoxic T lymphocytemediated immune responses against specific tumour targets⁹. This treatment can be directed to specific cells without killing normal tissue and without the hazards posed by radiation and chemotherapy. Recent studies in cutaneous melanoma have focussed on detecting melanoma-associated antigens on malignant cells in primary and metastatic lesions¹⁰⁻¹⁴ as well as in the peripheral circulation¹⁵⁻¹⁹. These studies

have proven to be effective in detecting melanoma-associated antigens, such as tyrosinase, gp100, and MART-1/Melan-A.

Other studies^{9,20-23} are now focussing on immunotherapeutic treatment targeted to cutaneous melanoma cells by means of the antigens presented on them. However, in order to achieve success with immunotherapeutic strategies, the antigens chosen as targets for immunotherapy must be adequately expressed on the malignant cells because absence or low expression of these proteins can lead to a poor immune response^{10,24}.

Although melanoma antigens have been found to be expressed on cutaneous lesions, we cannot simply generalize that uveal melanoma cells will carry the same antigens. It is important to understand the expression of melanoma antigens in uveal melanoma in order to assess the efficacy of immunotherapeutic treatment against these lesions. As important as it is for cutaneous melanoma, the ability to target melanoma antigens by immunotherapy for uveal melanoma is even more important due to the lack of metastatic staging in this tumour.

HYPOTHESIS

In lieu of the previous concepts, the following hypothesis is formed:

It is hypothesized that both Melan-A and gp100 melanoma-specific antigens are expressed by malignant cells of both primary and metastatic uveal melanoma and during hematogeneous dissemination.

These antigens will therefore be effective tumour markers for molecular biology studies involving the detection of circulating malignant cells and subsequently, as cell targets for immunotherapy.

OBJECTIVES

To confirm this hypothesis, the following objectives were established:

Human Studies

- 1. Monoclonal antibody (mAb) Melan-A expressivity is investigated in uveal melanoma to determine the presence of Melan-A antigen.
- mAb Melan-A expressivity is compared with mAbs HMB-45 and S-100 protein in order to determine whether mAb Melan-A should be added to the immunohistochemical profile of uveal melanoma.
- mAb Melan-A is evaluated as a prognostic indicator for uveal melanoma, through correlation with cell type.

Animal Studies

- Using the albino rabbit uveal melanoma model, the expressivity of both Melan-A and HMB-45 monoclonal antibodies is investigated in primary and metastatic uveal melanoma.
- 2. The heterogeneity of Melan-A and gp100 antigens is determined in metastatic uveal melanoma as compared to the primary tumour to assess their potential as targets for immunotherapy.

LITERATURE REVIEW

UVEAL MELANOMA

As previously mentioned, uveal melanoma is a rare tumour, with an incidence of 6 - 7 cases per million people per year¹. However, it remains the most common primary intraocular malignancy seen in adults. The tumour arises from melanocytes located in the iris, the choroid, and the ciliary body, which are the structures of the uveal tract. It is necessary to emphasize that the eye contains two types of melanocytic cells; the aforementioned uveal melanocytes as well as the pigment epithelial cells of the retina, ciliary body, and iris. Nevi and malignant melanomas arise from the uveal melanocytes, whereas tumours of the pigment epithelium are referred to as adenomas and carcinomas⁴.

Risk Factors

The etiology of uveal melanoma remains to be elucidated, however, there are several risk factors associated with the disease. These include age, race, gender, geographic factors, genetics, and predisposing lesions.

Age. A compilation of the cases on file at the Registry of Ophthalmic Pathology at the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology (AFIP), determined that the incidence of uveal melanoma increases as one ages, with the median age at presentation being 53 years⁴. Uveal melanoma is rarely seen in young patients. Shields²⁵ reports that less than 1% of patients present under the age of 20 years. *Race.* Race is an important risk factor since there is an inverse relationship between racial pigmentation and incidence of uveal melanoma. Uveal melanoma is more frequently seen in Caucasians, particularly blue-eyed, blonde individuals. The incidence for this population is approximately 8.5 times greater than in blacks²⁶. Margo and McLean²⁷ observed that only 1% of African Americans presents with this tumour while African natives have an even lower incidence. The incidence among the Asian population was found to lie between that of African Americans and Caucasians.

Gender. Uveal melanoma more commonly affects men than women. A review of 4,995 cases at the AFIP Registry of Pathology determined that male patients made up 55% of all uveal melanoma cases while 45% were female⁴. Epidemiological studies performed in Canada²⁸ and the United States³ support this finding. The reason for the higher incidence rate in men is not known.

Geographic Variations. The geographic variations in the incidence of uveal melanoma around the world reflect the different racial groups in certain areas rather than actinic exposure, such that, there is a higher incidence in Scandinavian countries as opposed to Africa^{4,29}. Thus, sunlight exposure is not considered a major risk factor in the etiology of uveal melanoma. This finding is supported by the fact that most of the ultraviolet light arriving at the eye is absorbed before it even reaches the uveal melanocytes.

Genetics. The genetics of uveal melanoma are not well defined, as the majority of primary uveal melanoma cases are sporadic. However, in rare cases, uveal melanoma may be familial or associated with a predisposing lesion³⁰. Familial uveal melanoma is believed to be inherited in an autosomal dominant mode, however it is rare for many individuals in a given family, over different generations, to be involved³⁰. In fact, familial uveal melanoma comprises only 0.6% of all uveal melanoma patients³¹.

Cytogenetic changes in uveal melanoma are characterized by several chromosome abnormalities, such as trisomy 8 and monosomy 3 and 6^{32} . This may suggest a deletion of a tumour suppressor gene on chromosomes 3 and 6, while multiplication of an oncogene may be implicated on chromosome 8.

Molecular genetic studies have shown an absence of mutations in the N-ras proto-oncogene³³. Also, p53 mutations have been implicated but they are not the same mutations as found in cutaneous melanoma³⁴. Cystine to Thymidine conversions, which are characteristic of ultraviolet light damage, and are frequently seen in cutaneous melanoma, are not present in uveal melanoma. These two findings suggest that ultraviolet light may not play a role in the pathogenesis of uveal melanoma.

Predisposing Lesions. Yanoff and co-workers³⁵ discovered that choroidal nevi could predispose to uveal melanoma. Although these nevi are composed of atypical

melanocytes, they do possess a benign nature. Based on the high prevalence of uveal nevi and the low incidence of uveal melanoma, it can be estimated that the rate of transformation of nevi to melanoma is approximately, 1 per 10,000 to 15,000 per year²⁹.

The presence of congenital oculodermal melanocytosis (Nevus of Ota) and ocular melanocytosis may also increase one's risk of developing uveal melanoma³⁶. This former lesion is caused by an increase in pigmented melanocytes in the deep dermal tissues of the eyelids, while the latter is due to an excess accumulation of melanocytes in the uveal tract, as well as in the sclera and episclera. Congenital oculodermal melanocytosis is more prominent in Blacks and Asians than Whites²⁹. However, ocular melanocytosis is seen in people of all races, but the transformation of this lesion to uveal melanoma occurs more readily in the white population.

Clinical Presentation

There are four clinical stages of uveal melanoma^{4,29}. These stages correlate with size of the tumour as well as the histopathological features of the tumour. Stages I & II represent the early stages of the disease and correspond to small tumours. These stages consist of asymptomatic tumours as well as cases with symptoms relating to loss of vision. As the disease progresses (stage III), ocular symptoms such as an elevation in intraocular pressure, inflammation, and pain are observed. Stage IV includes symptoms of extraocular extension, such as proptosis, and occasionally the presence of a subconjunctival mass. These later stages are associated with larger tumours.

Tumour size is classified according to the largest tumour dimension (LTD). Small tumours have a discoid shape (Figure 1) and are less than 10mm in the LTD. Medium tumours range from 11 - 15 mm, while any mass over 15mm is categorized as a large tumour. Both medium and large sized tumours tend to have either a collar button (Figure 2) or mushroom-shaped appearance (Figure 3). An exception to this usual growth pattern is the diffuse melanoma, which extends itself around the uveal tract without protruding into the centre.

Histopathology

Callender's³⁷ histopathological study of 111 cases of choroidal and ciliary body melanomas was the first to describe the different cell populations in uveal melanoma. McLean and co-workers^{38,39} later modified this classification to the one presently used, known as Callender's Modification. This is the universally accepted classification for Ophthalmic Pathologists. It distinguishes between benign uveal melanocytic lesions, termed nevi, and malignant uveal melanocytic lesions. Furthermore, it classifies uveal melanoma into two main cell types; spindle and epithelioid. However, malignant melanocytes exist within a spectrum ranging between these two extremes and tumours containing both categories of cell types are described as mixed cell tumours. In fact, 48% of tumours are diagnosed as mixed cell type⁴⁰.



Figure 1. Small, discoid-shaped choroidal melanoma (1106X).



Figure 2. Medium, button-shaped choroidal melanoma with overlying retinal detachment (1108X).



Figure 3. Large, heavily pigmented, mushroom-shaped choroidal and ciliary body melanoma with overlying retinal detachment (1108X).

Spindle cells are highly cohesive, fusiform cells with small nuclei which may or may not contain nucleoli (Figure 4). They often give the appearance of forming a syncytium, since their cellular borders, as defined by the plasma membrane, cannot be distinguished. Small tumours, seen in the early stages of disease are composed of these well-differentiated melanocytes.

Epithelioid cells are large, polyhedral cells with abundant cytoplasm, and containing large nuclei with large, round nucleoli (Figure 5). They are relatively pleomorphic as compared to their spindle cell counterparts. Also, epithelioid cells are spread out in the extracellular matrix architecture, demonstrating a lack of cohesion, and allowing identification of their distinctive cell borders. Occasionally, multinucleated epithelioid cells may be observed. These poorly differentiated melanocytes are mainly seen in larger tumours, reflecting a more aggressive nature of the tumour.

Immunohistochemical Profile

Routinely, uveal melanoma is easily identified through light microscopy. However, on occasion it may be difficult to differentiate melanoma from metastatic carcinomas, schwannomas, and neurofibromas⁴¹. Immunohistochemical techniques are very important in these instances in order to make a definitive diagnosis of melanoma. To date, the immunohistochemical profile of uveal melanoma consists of HMB-45, S-100 protein, and Neuron-specific enolase (NSE). In a comparative study of these three immunomarkers, Burnier and co-workers⁴² found HMB-45 to be the



Figure 4. Uveni melanoma, spindle cell type: highly cohesive, fusiform cells with small nuclei (H&E, 700X).



Figure 5. Uveal melanoma, epithelioid cell type: highly pleomorphic cells with large nuclei (H&E, 1120X).

most specific marker for melanocytic lesions of the uveal tract, including nevus and melanoma. Antibodies to the Melan-A antigen have been extensively investigated in cutaneous melanoma lesions^{12,13,43,44,45}. However, studies investigating Melan-A antibodies in uveal melanoma are limited. De Vries and co-workers⁴⁶ as well as Nicotra and co-workers⁴⁴ investigated Melan-A expression in cryostat sections of uveal melanoma with conflicting results. To the best of our knowledge, the expression of Melan-A in a large series of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded uveal melanomas has not yet been evaluated. The currently important immunomarkers for uveal melanoma are outlined below.

HMB-45. Adema and co-workers^{47,48} discovered that HMB-45 recognizes a glycoprotein of 100 kDa known as gp100. However, another study⁴⁹ suggests that HMB-45 recognizes a 3-35kDa melanosome-associated sialated glycoprotein. HMB-45 specificity for melanocytes is demonstrated by immunoelectron microscopy studies⁵⁰⁻⁵³ which reveal that HMB-45 reactivity is restricted to melanosomes of malignant melanocytes. It was observed that HMB-45 stained early stage (I, II, III) melanosomes more intensely than late stage (IV) melanosomes. These studies demonstrate that HMB-45 specifically stains melanosomes as opposed to diffuse cytoplasmic antigen, as described by light microscopic immunohistochemical analysis. Tattjes and co-workers⁵⁰ discovered that pretreatment of sections with neuraminidase caused immunolabelling with HMB-45 to be drastically reduced or, in some cases, absent. This supports the idea⁵⁰ that HMB-45 is partially composed of sialic acid and that sialylation of the antigen is crucial to HMB-45 binding.

Cheng and co-workers⁵⁴ suggested that HMB-45 expression is inducible and closely related to the functional activity of melanocytes. This was determined after irradiated epidermal melanocytes stained positively for HMB-45. Irradiation may lead to morphological changes of the cell, which may imply cell activation. Cell activation in turn may lead to melanosome production. In earlier studies, Skelton and co-workers⁵⁵ correlated HMB-45 staining with melanosome production.

Disconcerting is the fact that several studies^{56,57} found renal angiomyolipomas (RAML) and smooth muscle cell tumours⁵⁸ to be immunoreactive for HMB-45. Zimmer and co-workers⁵⁹ also found HMB-45 to be positive in gliosarcomas, primitive neuroectodermal tumours, ependymoma, malignant schwannomas, and intracranial hamartomas, while Hancock and co-workers⁶⁰ found HMB-45 reactivity in some adenocarcinomas. However, when confined to diagnosing tumours of the eye, non-melanocytic ocular tumours revealed no HMB-45 staining^{42,51}. Therefore, in distinguishing between melanocytic and non-melanocytic ocular tumours, HMB-45 is an excellent immunomarker with greater than 95% positivity⁴².

S-100 Protein. This antibody identifies an acidic protein isolated from cow brain that is composed of two subunits; alpha and beta⁶¹. The alpha unit reacts with axons and melanocytes, whereas the beta subunit is found in schwann cells⁶². S-100 protein is sensitive to both benign and malignant cutaneous and ocular melanomas^{12,42,63}. However, S-100 Protein does not stain these tumours with the same specificity as HMB-45^{42,63,64}. S-100 protein is not a melanoma-specific marker, therefore positive immunostaining cannot be considered as unequivocally diagnostic of melanoma. Neural tumours, certain types of histiocytic derived neoplasms, and a variety of carcinomas and sarcomas are positive for S-100 protein^{42,64}.

Melan-A. Monoclonal antibody Melan-A recognizes the melanoma-associated antigen MART-1/Melan-A which is a melanosomal protein¹³. MART-1/Melan-A was shown to stain primary cutaneous melanoma lesions and pigmented nevi in an homogeneous fashion^{12,13,44}. In contrast, metastatic cutaneous lesions stained heterogeneously^{12,13,45}. This may suggest that MART-1/Melan-A is downregulated during melanoma progression. Its specificity in cutaneous melanoma is comparable to S-100 protein, and more reliable than HMB-45¹².

Prognostic Factors

Several clinical and histopathological observations aid in determining the prognosis of uveal melanoma. These include tumour size and location, cell type, size of nuclei and nucleoli, lymphocytic infiltration, mitotic figures, architecture of the microcirculation, and extrascleral extension^{39,65-67}.

Clinical

The most important clinical prognostic factors are tumour size and location, since they inform about tumour aggressivity and provide a good basis upon which to predict possible metastatic spread.

Tumour Size. Tumour height was initially considered the best indicator of tumour size, however, McLean and co-workers⁶⁶ concluded from a study of 3,432 cases that the maximum measurement in any one dimension correlated better with prognosis. This explains the poor outcome associated with diffuse melanomas. In a study of 4,410 uveal melanoma cases McLean⁶⁷ found that the 20 year survival rate was approximately 78% for small tumours, 55% for medium tumours, and 30% for large tumours. A recent study also showed that small choroidal melanomas with certain risk factors have a greater potential for metastasis than previously realized⁶⁸.

Tumour Location. Uveal melanoma arises more frequently in the choroid and is less commonly seen in the iris and ciliary body. Iris tumours do have a better prognosis since they are visible and can be detected early. On the other hand, tumours of the ciliary body carry a worse prognosis due to the highly vascularized nature of the structure.

Extraocular Extension. The sclera provides a tough barrier against the local invasion of uveal melanoma. Therefore, aggressive tumours tend to invade through

the vortex veins as well as the ciliary arteries and nerves. Uveal melanoma very rarely extend through the optic nerve^{4,29}. Extraocular extension is observed in large tumours generally composed of epithelioid cells and an intricate microcirculation. Therefore, patients presenting with this characteristic tend to have a poorer prognosis.

Genetics. White and co-authors⁶⁹ report that the simultaneous presence of chromosome 3 and 8 abnormalities is associated with a poorer prognosis. However, when each appeared separately, the risk of a poor outcome was the same as if neither abnormality were present. In quite a surprising manner they discovered that an abnormality on chromosome 6 has a protective effect, as patients with the abnormality faired better than those without it. Furthermore, this and other reports^{70,71} found that abnormalities in chromosomes 3 and 8 usually occur together and are associated with ciliary body tumours, whereas abnormalities in chromosome 6 occur alone and are associated with choroidal tumours. These reports may support evidence linking tumour location and genetics for prognosis of uveal melanoma.

Other clinical prognostic parameters include tumour margin location anterior to the equator of the eye, older age, male gender, and tumour-induced glaucoma, which are associated with a poorer life prognosis⁶⁵.

Histopathological

Cell Type. Cell type correlates with tumour size and is the single most important prognostic factor in uveal melanoma. Smaller tumours composed of spindle cells

offer a better prognosis for the patient, resulting in a 22% death rate due to metastasis while larger, epithelioid cell tumours carry a worst prognosis with the death rate due to metastasis increasing to $62\%^{40}$.

Mean Diameter of the Ten Largest Nucleoli (MLN). MLN cannot be easily assessed since it requires the use of image analysis equipment. This factor causes the method to be sensitive and explains the discrepancy between different investigators. Several studies^{72,73} found an increase in MLN to be associated with a poorer prognosis, while others^{74,75} found MLN to be an insignificant prognostic indicator.

Mitotic Figures. Mitotic figures are rare in uveal melanomas, however they are more frequently seen in epithelioid cell tumours than in spindle cell tumours. McLean and co-workers⁷⁶ found that it is best to observe mitotic figures under magnification of 40 high-power fields. Several investigators have found mitotic figures to be of prognostic significance since they are indicative of cellular proliferation⁷⁶⁻⁷⁹.

Microcirculation. Folberg and co-workers⁸⁰ demonstrated that uveal melanoma tumours may be composed of a variety of microcirculation patterns. They main contain straight vessels, parallel straight vessels, cross-linking parallel vessels, vascular arcs, arcs with branching, loops, and networks. Fibrovascular loops are branches of blood vessels that completely surround lobules of tumour, thereby

forming loops. When loops are observed in groups of two or more, these are termed networks.

In a preliminary study of 40 patients Folberg and co-workers⁷⁸ showed that the presence of vascular loops was associated with death due to metastasis. A larger study⁷⁹ of 234 patients subsequently showed that the presence of loops resulted in a 55.4% survival rate after ten years, whereas tumours lacking these structures demonstrated a patient survival rate of 91.1%. Microcirculation networks were the most significant factor when determining prognosis. The presence of networks correlated with a 50.7% survival rate over ten years. Another study⁷² comprising 496 cases confirmed the observations of Folberg and co-workers. Therefore, the microcirculation architecture can be used as an indicator of tumour progression. The more advanced the architecture, the worst the prognosis.

Lymphocytic Infiltration. Tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in uveal melanoma are predominantly T-cytotoxic/suppressor cells⁸¹. De la Cruz and co-workers⁷⁷ evaluated the prognostic significance of these TILs. They discovered that the presence of infiltrating lymphocytes is seen in 14 - 20% of uveal melanoma cases, and was associated with death due to metastasis⁷⁷. Whelchel and co-workers⁸² also concluded that there was a positive correlation between T-lymphocytic infiltration and death due to metastasis. This is the opposite finding to cutaneous melanoma. However, the discrepancy should not be so unexpected when the anatomy of the two lesions is considered along with the knowledge of their modes of
dissemination. Metastasis from cutaneous melanoma initially spreads via the lymphatic system, however, there is no lymphatic drainage in the eye or the orbit and metastatic spread from uveal melanoma is hematogenous. Since the eye is considered an immune-privileged site, it was suggested that in order to mount a T-cell mediated immune response, malignant cells must first disseminate into the blood^{77,82}. These viable circulating tumour cells would be the antigen source needed for immune activation^{77,82}. This evidence accounts for the fact that TILs carry a worst prognosis for patients with uveal melanoma. It should be emphasized however that once lymphocytes are present within the tumour, they are believed to have a beneficial effect⁸³.

Metastasis, Treatment, and Survival

The treatment of choice for uveal melanoma depends upon the size of the tumour. Small tumours tend to be followed and growth is monitored. If no growth is seen, no treatment is undertaken. If these small tumours begin to enlarge, then radiation is applied in order to kill the neoplastic cells while still preserving vision and aesthetics for the patient. Unfortunately, if the tumour continues growing, then enucleation is performed. This is also the case for patients who have large tumours at first presentation. Systemic work-up consisting of several liver function examinations are performed each year to assure no metastatic disease. In a study of 2,627 cases from the Registry of Ophthalmic Pathology (AFIP), Zimmerman and coworkers⁸⁴ discovered that the proportion of patients being diagnosed earlier on has increased, while those diagnosed at later stages of disease has decreased. Although

this is a promising sign, it was also concluded that despite earlier treatment, there was no significant improvement in survival^{84,85}.

As discussed earlier, metastasis from cutaneous melanoma initially spreads via the lymphatic system, however, there is no lymphatic drainage in the eye or the orbit. Therefore, uveal melanoma cells metastasize hematogeneously and preferentially to the liver. Also, unlike cutaneous melanoma which metastasizes to regional lymph nodes and systemic involvement can be traced, there is no such staging in uveal melanoma. Ophthalmologists rely upon prognostic factors to identify patients who are at greatest risk of developing metastatic disease. As of yet, there is no prevention.

Metastasis from uveal melanoma can occur anytime up to 20 years after treatment. It is unlikely that the tumour will metastasize after this time. The first evidence of metastasis is discovered, on average, 6.5 years after removal of the primary tumour⁶. Furthermore, only 1% of uveal melanoma patients show evidence of metastasis at presentation, yet 40 - 50% of patients will develop hepatic metastasis^{7,76,85,86}. The five, ten, and fifteen year survival rates for uveal melanoma are approximately 72%, 59%, and 53% respectively^{5,87}. It is possible that many patients already have subclinical hepatic metastases that were not detectable upon routine systemic examination⁸⁵. Once a metastatic site is detected clinically, the life expectancy is between two to seven months and fatal in all cases⁸⁸. Surgical resection of the affected hepatic site coupled with chemotherapy is the best method of improving survival^{86,89}.

The Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study (COMS)⁹⁰ reports that there is no survival difference between patients who underwent pre-enucleation radiation (74%) or enucleation alone (72%). Gunlap and co-workers⁹¹ also conclude that pre-enucleation irradiation does not improve survival in patients with uveal melanoma. This data suggests that micrometastases occurred before treatment. This also weakens the argument⁷ that enucleation causes metastatic dissemination since the patients who underwent radiation before enucleation had the same survival rate.

UVEAL MELANOMA ANIMAL MODELS

The need for animal models to study uveal melanoma is very important due to the low incidence of uveal melanoma⁹². It is impossible to study this tumour unless the eye is enucleated. Also, these tumours are not representative of all uveal melanomas since tumours obtained at enucleation are usually quite large and depict late stage disease. It is also necessary and important to study animal models of uveal melanoma in order to better understand the tumour-host interaction as well as the biology of metastatic dissemination.

In order to design a model which closely relates to uveal melanoma in humans, research has concentrated in developing inducible models. Studies have focussed on developing uveal melanoma by means of viruses⁹³ and chemicals⁹⁴.

However, these models were only sufficient to study the early stages of disease. A transgenic mouse model⁹⁵ was also inadequate, since although a tumour of epithelioid cells was developed, it originated from the retinal pigment epithelium.

Other inducible models were developed that were based on implanting turnours. Greene and co-workers⁹⁶, who took a pigmented cutaneous melanoma found in hamsters and implanted it into the eye of a rabbit, first developed this model, known as "Green Melanoma." This model allowed for the development of uveal melanoma as well as distant metastases. Over the years, this model has been modified to the one developed by Kan-Mitchell and co-workers⁹⁷ who implanted human uveal melanoma cells into the eyes of rabbits immunosuppressed with cyclosporin A. Several investigators^{8,97-99} have confirmed the development of primary intraocular melanoma using this method. Specifically, the albino rabbit model of uveal melanoma reproduces the local and systemic behaviour of human uveal melanoma with high efficacy⁸. Since a high number of animals develop metastatic disease, this is a good model to test new therapeutic approaches against primary uveal melanoma and systemic metastases⁸.

TUMOUR MARKERS

The discovery of tumour antigens that are recognized by cytolytic T cells, and are able to evoke tumour-specific immune responses in cancer patients has given rise to the possibility of immunotherapeutic treatment. These tumour antigens are classified into three main categories: tumour-specific shared antigens, antigens

27

encoded by mutated genes, and melanoma-associated antigens. The majority of these antigens are presented to CD8+ T lymphocytes via MHC class I molecules.

Tumour-Specific Shared Antigens. This category contains the MAGE, BAGE, and GAGE genes which are frequently expressed by many tumour types but are silent in normal adult tissue, except testis^{100,101}. Sixty percent (60%) of Caucasian cutaneous melanoma patients bear one of the defined antigens encoded by MAGE, BAGE, and GAGE. Immunization against antigens encoded by one of these genes is plausible since male germline cells do not express MHC class I molecules^{102,103}. Therefore, gene expression would not result in antigen expression and, in turn, no autoimmune side effects should be noted. Interestingly, however, uveal melanomas were shown to rarely express MAGE genes¹⁰⁴.

Antigens Encoded by Mutated Genes. The study of immunogenic variants of mouse tumours obtained by mutagenesis demonstrated that point mutations in ubiquitously expressed genes could create antigenic epitopes recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes¹⁰⁵. In cutaneous melanoma cell lines, point mutations in both the cyclin-dependent kinase 4 gene¹⁰⁶ and the β -catenin gene¹⁰⁷ have produced antigenic peptides presented by HLA-A2 class I molecules. However, since antigens created by point mutations are restricted to very few tumours, it would be difficult to develop cancer vaccines based on these antigens^{100,105}. Furthermore, there is no evidence, as yet, of this category of antigens in uveal melanoma.

Melanoma-Associated Antigens. This class includes tyrosinase, gp100/Pmel17, and Melan-A/Mart-1 peptides which are encoded by genes that are frequently expressed in melanoma cells, but are silent in the high majority of normal adult tissues⁹. These melanocytic lineage antigens are presented specifically by HLA-A2 molecules to CD8+ T cells¹⁰⁰. The T cells can recognize peptides at the tumour cell surface and can subsequently destroy these cells. Hence, immunotherapy trials based upon these melanoma-associated antigens seem feasible. Tyrosinase, gp100/Pmel17, and Melan-A/MART-1 are individually described below.

Tyrosinase. Tyrosinase is an important enzyme in melanin biosynthesis as it converts tyrosine into dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA), the precursor of melanin. The tyrosinase gene, so far, encodes for three antigenic peptides in cutaneous melanoma and is expressed in normal and neoplastic melanoma cells, but in no other types of tumours¹⁰⁰.

The implication of tyrosinase as a uveal melanoma-associated antigen has been controversial. Foss and co-workers¹⁰⁸ report that RT-PCR for tyrosinase mRNA detection is of no clinical value in detecting metastatic uveal melanoma. Meanwhile, Tobal and co-workers¹⁰⁹ report that tyrosinase can be detected in uveal melanoma and may be of clinical value. Since tyrosinase expression is highly heterogeneous in cutaneous melanoma¹⁶, it is plausible to suggest that this is also the case in uveal melanoma, as antigenic heterogeneity in uveal melanoma has been reported¹¹⁰. This would account for the conflicting reports. gp100. Gp100 is a premelanosome glycoprotein thought to be specific for melanocytic differentiation⁵³. Adema and co-workers⁴⁸ also discovered that gp100 RNA transcripts were present in all normal and malignant melanocytic cells analyzed. Brouwenstijn and co-workers¹¹¹ later discovered that gp100 transcripts were present in tissues and cell lines other than those of the melanocytic lineage. However, gp100 protein was not detectable. As described earlier, immunohistochemical studies in uveal melanoma have shown gp100 to be highly expressed in this tumour^{42,63}.

Pmel17 is another antigen arising from the same gene as gp100 antigen through differential splicing. Pmel17 contains an additional 7 amino acids inserted at position 567⁴⁷. Due to Pmel17 high homology with gp100 it is not surprising that HMB-45 also reacts with Pmel17^{112,113}. Adoptive transfer of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes directed against gp100/Pmel17 in a cutaneous melanoma patient led to regressions of melanoma metastases.

MART-1/Melan-A. This antigen was discovered separately by two groups of researchers. Due to the melanocytic nature, one group¹¹⁴ named the gene Melan-A. The other group¹¹⁵ identified the same cDNA and named it MART-1. Studies^{12,13,43,44,45} have shown that MART-1/Melan-A is exclusively specific for normal and malignant melanocytes. Its function remains to be identified, however, it may be involved in melanin synthesis¹¹⁶.

In the skin MART-1/Melan-A is expressed only in melanocyte-lineage cells¹³. Keratinocytes, Langerhans cells, blood vessels, infiltrating blood cells, sweat glands, and nerve bundles were all found to be negative for the Melan-A antigen. MART-1/Melan-A is the immunodominant MAA recognized by HLA-A2-restricted T lymphocytes in most patients with cutaneous melanoma with HLA-A2 phenotype, which represents 50% of North American whites and Japanese patients with melanoma¹³. Therefore, MART-1/Melan-A may be a useful target of immunotherapy for cutaneous melanoma. However, the heterogeneous expression of MART-1/Melan-A in metastatic cutaneous melanoma may indicate possible tumour escape from T-cell recognition through emergence of antigen-loss variants^{13,45}. These facts remain to be elucidated in uveal melanoma. PATIENTS, MATERIALS, & METHODS

Human Studies

A compilation of 56 uveal melanoma cases spanning a 16-year period, from 1982 – 1998, was made. All uveal melanoma cases were obtained from the Ophthalmic Pathology Registry at McGill University, Montreal Canada. All choroidal and ciliary body cases were obtained after enucleation, while iris tumours underwent iridocyclectomy. The tumours were formalin-fixed and paraffin embedded.

Animal Studies

Our colleagues from the University of Valladolid, Spain, kindly provided the primary and metastatic uveal melanoma tumours from the albino rabbit animal model.

Cell Lines

MKT-BR. The MKT-BR cell line was characterized by R Belkhou and J Sahel¹¹⁷ (University of Strasbourg, France). It is derived from a primary uveal melanoma tumour obtained from a patient after surgical enucleation¹¹⁷ and consists of spindle cells with evident cytoplasmic processes¹¹⁸.

Sp6.5. Pelletier and co-workers¹¹⁹ (Laval University, Quebec, Canada) established the Sp6.5 cell line from a non-irradiated primary uveal melanoma tumour. The Sp6.5 line exhibits a mixture of spindle and epithelioid cells¹¹⁸.

92-1. The 92-1 cell line was established from a primary uveal melanoma by De Waard-Siebinga and co-workers¹²⁰. It is composed of highly pleomorphic cells containing large, prominent nucleoli.

Culture Methods

As previously described¹¹⁸ cells were grown in 25cm² tissue culture flasks using RPMI-1640 medium with Glutamax supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS, and 5.0UI/mI-50ug/ml penicillin-streptomycin. The cultures were incubated at 37°C, in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂. The medium was changed every 2-3 days. All reagents were obtained from Life Technologies.

Albino Rabbits

Three groups of male albino New Zealand rabbits weighing around 3.000 g (range: 2.400-3.450 g, mean 2.900 g) treated in accordance with the ARVO statement for the use of animals in Ophthalmic and Vision Research were used. Animals received daily intramuscular (i.m.) Cyclosporin A (CsA) (Sandimun 50 mg/ml; Sandoz, Basel, Switzerland) beginning two days before cell implant at a dosage of 0.3ml/kg for the first 4 weeks and 0.2 ml/kg for the following 4 weeks.

Implant Technique

An aliquot of 0.2 ml from the respective cell suspension (MKT-BR, Sp6.5, 92-1,) with a total amount of $0.36-1\times10^6$ cells with up to 97% viability was prepared for the choroidal implant.

Ketamine chloridrate *(Ketolar, Parke-Davis, S.A, Spain)* 5 mg/kg of weight i.m and clorhidrate of 2-(2,6-xilidin)-5,6-dihidro-4H-1,3-tiazine (*Rompún 2%*, Bayer AG, Germany) 7 mg/kg of weight i.m. was employed for general anesthesia. Topic mydriatics and anesthetics were also administered. The implantation technique used was a modification of that previously described by Krohn¹²¹. A temporal conjunctival incision was performed followed by a 0.2 ml paracentesis. Cells were carefully injected in the subchoroidal space using a 25-27 G curve canulae passing through a scleral incision of 3 mm at 6 mm from the limbus.

Follow-up

Rabbits were followed for 2 months. A fundoscopy study, weight, and analytical control was performed weekly. Blood levels of CsA were determined in complete blood with polarized fluorescent immunoanalysis using monoclonal antibodies and an autoanalyzer (Abbot TDX; Abbot, USA).

Postmortem Study

Animals were followed until they spontaneously died. Survival time was considered the last complete week from the beginning of the immunosuppressor treatment. The post-mortem study included a thoracotomy and laparotomy to study intrathoracic and abdominal viscera. Although all the eyes were studied, it was not possible to perform the full autopsy in all the cases. The enucleated eyes and representative fragments of liver and lung were formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded for histopathological and immunohistochemical evaluation.

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed using the peroxidase-anti-peroxidase technique for HMB-45 (1:50; Dako), S-100 protein (1:2000; Dako), and Melan-A (1:100; Novocastra) monoclonal antibodies in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded sections. All three antibodies were investigated in the 56 uveal melanoma cases. Melan-A and HMB-45 were examined in the primary and metastatic lesions from the animal model.

Samples were fixed in 10% BNF in a solution that is 15-20X the volume of the tissue. Fixing time was a minimum of 4 hours and a maximum of 24 hours. Sections were loaded onto a Ventana ES immunostaining instrument and each slide was flooded with wash solution from a squeeze bottle. They were then incubated with an inhibitor for 4 minutes at 42°C to remove peroxidase activity. The respective antibody (Melan-A, HMB-45, or S-100 protein) was applied and incubated for 32 minutes at 42°C, after which the secondary antibody (a cocktail consisting of antimouse IgG and IgM; and anti-rabbit IgG) was applied for 8 minutes at 42°C. The avidin HRPO step was performed for 8 minutes followed by DAB solution mixed with H_2O_2 for 8 minutes at 42°C. Finally copper enhancement was performed for 4 minutes at 42°C. Note that at the end of each incubation step, the Ventana ES instrument washed the sections to stop the respective reaction and to remove unbound material that would hinder the desired reaction in subsequent steps.

Grading of the Immunostain

All cases from uveal melanoma patients and the animal model were independently reviewed by two investigators and graded according to the following methods.

Intensity of the Immunostain

The degree of positivity was determined in accordance with other investigators^{13,41,62}. A grade of one (1) was given for weak intensity, grade two (2) for moderate intensity, and grade three (3) for strong intensity. A grade of zero (0) was given to all negative tumours.

Percentage of Tumour Area Stained

Cases were graded according to the percentage of tumour area which stained positively, in accordance with other investigators^{12,43,44,45}. A grade of zero (0) for negative tumours, grade one (1) for an area between 1 - 25%; grade two (2) for 26 - 50%; grade three (3) for 51 - 75%; and grade four (4) for >75%. When greater than 75% of turnour cells stained positively, the immunostain was said to exhibit an homogeneous staining pattern.

Cell Type Classification

Hemotoxylin and eosin (H&E) stained sections of all human uveal melanoma cases were reviewed in order to classify tumours according to cell type. Each tumour was grouped under one of the following four categories: spindle cell (S); mixed, predominantly spindle cell (MS); mixed, predominantly epithelioid cell (ME); or epithelioid cell (E). Once all the results were tabulated, the respective tumours were matched for cell classification and Melan-A staining.

H&E sections of metastatic uveal melanoma from lung and liver of the albino rabbit were also reviewed for cell morphology, in order to determine if the morphology of a cell line was altered during metastatic progression.

RESULTS

Human Studies

Patient Characteristics

Fifty-six primary uveal melanomas were analyzed by light microscopy. These cases comprised 2 iris melanomas, 2 ciliary body (CB) tumours, 45 choroidal melanomas, and 7 choroidal tumours involving the ciliary body (CCB). Cell type was determined for all tumours through histopathological analysis. There were 13 spindle cell (S); 17 mixed cell, predominantly spindle (MS); 18 mixed cell, predominantly epithelioid (ME); and 8 epithelioid cell (E) tumours. Patient information was collected for only 44 of the 56 cases, as there was no documentation available for 12 of the patients. There were 22 male and 22 female patients involved in the study with a mean age of 63 years. The right eye (OD) was affected in 25 cases and the left eye (OS) in 19 cases. Patient characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

No. Primary Tumours	56	
Male/Female*	22/22	
Mean Age (years)*	63 years (2 not specified)	
Range*	43 – 87 years	
Location: Iris/CB/Ch/CCB	2/2/45/7	
Cell Type	13 S / 17 MS / 18 ME / 8 E	
LTD* (average)	14.06mm (2 not specified)	
Globe affected OD/OS*	25 / 19	

Table 1. Patient Characteristics.

*Information gathered from 44 of the 56 cases LTD = Largest tumour dimension

Immunostaining of Primary Uveal Melanoma

The level of expression of Melan-A, HMB-45, and S-100 protein in fifty-six uveal melanoma cases are summarized in Tables 2 and 3.

Grade of Immunostain	Melan-A	HMB-45	S-100 protein
0	15	3	3
1	18	5	21
2	21	10	23
3	2	38	9

Table 2. Comparison between Melan-A, HMB-45, and S-100 protein according to the intensity of the immunostain in 56 uveal melanoma cases.

Table 3. Comparison between Melan-A, HMB-45, and S-100 protein according to the percentage of tumour area stained in 56 uveal melanoma cases.

% Tumour Area	Melan-A	HMB-45	S-100 protein
0	15	3	3
1 - 25	8	2	8
26 - 50	3	6	10
51 - 75	11	8	15
> 75	19	37	20

Melan-A exhibited cytoplasmic staining of melanoma cells and was positive in 41 of 56 (73.2%) tumours. The intensity of the stain varied between tumours with an average grade of 1.61 being observed (Figures 6-8). Although the intensity was moderate, Melan-A was found to consistently stain greater than 50% of melanoma cells within a given tumour. Melan-A stained 46.3% of cases in an homogenous fashion.

HMB-45, which also exhibited cytoplasmic staining, was positive in 53 of 56 (94.6%) cases, therefore showing greater positivity than Melan-A. An average intensity of 2.62 was observed for this immunostain (Figures 9-11). In 69.8% of cases, HMB-45 showed homogeneous staining of the tumour.

S-100 protein stained the same number of cases as HMB-45, showing positivity in 53 of 56 (94.6%) cases. It was also shown to stain the cytoplasm of the melanoma cells. However, unlike HMB-45, the average staining intensity of S-100 protein was 1.77, (Figures 12-14) making it comparable to Melan-A. S-100 protein also depicted a more heterogeneous staining pattern than its counterparts. Only 37.7% of cases demonstrated homogeneous staining.

Melan-A Staining According to Cell Type

3

Melan-A expression did not differ between spindle and epithelioid cells. As depicted in Table 4, grade 3 Melan-A staining was seen in both a MS and an E cell tumour. Nine cases of mainly spindle cells showed grade two staining compared to 12 tumours with mainly epithelioid cells. Grade one staining was observed in 13 mainly spindle cell tumours as compared to 5 mainly epithelioid cell tumours. Finally, the classification of negative staining by cell type was virtually the same, with 7 mainly spindle cell tumours and 8 tumours with mainly epithelioid cells.

cases.							
Melan-A Grading	(S)	(MS)	(ME)	(E)			
0	2	5	5	3			
1	8	5	3	2			
2	3	6	10	2			

1

1

Table 4. Correlation between Cell Type and Melan-A staining in 56 uveal melanoma cases.



Figure 6. Uvesl melanoma depicting grade one positivity for Melan-A. (1108X)



Figure 7. Uveal melanoma depicting grade two positivity for Melan-A. (1108X)



Figure 8. Uvent melanoma depicting grade three positivity for Melan-A. (1108X)



Figure 9. Uveal melanoma depicting grade one positivity for HMB-45. (1106X)



Figure 10. Uveal melanoma depicting grade two positivity for HMB-45. (1108X)



Figure 11. Uveal melanoma depicting grade three positivity for HMB-45. (1108X)



Figure 12. Uveal melanoma depicting grade one positivity for S-100 Protein. (1108X)



Figure 13. Uveal melanoma depicting grade two positivity for S-100 Protein. (1108X)



Figure 14. Uveal melanoma depicting grade three positivity for S-100 Protein. (1108X)

Animal Studies

Albino Rabbit Characteristics

Twenty-two albino rabbits were involved in the study. There were 3 rabbits implanted with the MKT-BR cell line; 10 with 92-1; and 9 with Sp6.5. All rabbits developed large, posterior choroidal melanoma tumours. Both lung and liver metastases were observed in 2 rabbits, while 14 rabbits had lung metastases only, and 2 rabbits had only liver metastases. There was no evidence of metastatic disease in 4 rabbits. As described in the methods, MKT-BR, 92-1, and Sp6.5 exhibit different cell morphologies, however, the cell morphology observed in the metastatic nodules was predominantly epithelioid in all cases, regardless of the cell line. There were 4 rabbits that did not develop any metastatic disease. These characteristics are summarized in Table 5.

PrimaryNunCell LineTumour Cellw		Number of Rabbits with a Primary	Number of Rabbits with Metastases		
Morphology	Tumour	Lung	Liver	Both	
MKT-BR	S	3	1	-	
Sp6.5	ME	9	6	2	1
92-1	ME	10	7	-	1

Table 5. Tumour Characteristics for 22 Albino Rabbits.

Immunostaining of Primary Uveal Melanoma

The three cell lines were positive for both Melan-A and HMB-45 immunostains, since all 22 primary tumours stained. The graded intensity and the percentage of cells stained are summarized in Table 6 and Table 7, respectively (Figures 15-16).

Grade	Melan-A	HMB-45
0	•	-
1	3	-
2	4	1
3	15	21

<u>Table 6</u>. Staining intensity of Melan-A and HMB-45, respectively, in 22 cases of uveal melanoma developed in the albino rabbit.

The average staining intensity observed for Melan-A was 2.55, while HMB-45 exhibited an average intensity of 2.95. Melan-A stained less than 50% of cells within a given tumour in 81.8% of cases, thereby demonstrating a heterogeneous staining pattern. Melan-A stained greater than 50% of cells in only 18% of cases. However, HMB-45 showed a more homogeneous staining pattern since more than 50% of cells were positive in 72.7% of cases.

% Tumour Cells	Melan-A	HMB-45
1 - 25	4	-
26 - 50	14	6
51 - 75		6
> 75	4	10

Table 7. Percentage of tumour cells stained by Melan-A and HMB-45, respectively, in 22 cases of uveal melanoma developed in the albino rabbit.



Figure 15. Primary useal melanoma tumour developed in the albiao rabbit, showing positivity for HMB-45. (692X)



Figure 16. Primary useal melanoma tumour developed in the albino rabbit, showing positivity for Melan-A. (692X)

Immunostaining of Metastatic Uveal Melanoma

Nodules of cells were observed in all cases of lung metastases, while more diffuse metastases was observed in the liver. Melan-A and HMB-45 staining was positive in all cases (Figures 17-19). The results are shown in Table 8.

Table 8.	Level of e	expression of	of HMB-45	and Mel	an-A in	16 cases	of lung
and 4 cas	ses of liver	metastases	from the a	lbino rab	bit		

Grade of	Melan-A		HMB-45	
Immunostain	Lung	Liver	Lung	Liver
0	-	-	-	-
1	6	1	3	1
2	5	3	5	I
3	5	•	8	2

Again, a stronger staining intensity was observed with HMB-45 as compared to Melan-A. The average intensity of HMB-45 was 2.31 in lung metastases and 2.25 in liver metastases. Melan-A exhibited an average intensity of 1.94 in lung metastases and 1.75 in liver metastases.



Figure 17. Metastatic uveal melanoma nodule in the lung of the albino rabbit. (H&E; 346X)



Figure 18. Metastatic nodule staining for HMB-45. (1385X)



Figure 19. Metastatic nodule staining for Melan-A. (1385X)

DISCUSSION

.

The recent literature^{10-16,43,44,45} has spotlighted on MART-1/Melan-A antigen as a good immunohistochemical and mRNA marker for cutaneous melanoma. Consequently, MART-1/Melan-A antigen was chosen to be investigated as an immunomarker for uveal melanoma. This is the first study to examine MART-1/Melan-A expression in a large series of paraffin-embedded primary uveal melanomas. It is also the first study to examine melanoma-associated antigen expression in primary and metastatic human uveal melanomas developed in albino rabbits.

Human Studies

Melan-A was found to be positive in 73.2% of primary uveal melanoma tumours. This finding contradicts a recent immunohistochemical study⁴⁴ of Melan-A in 12 cryostat sections of ocular melanomas, which found Melan-A to be positive in only 25% of cases. The latter low percentage may be due to the small sample size used. Interestingly, de Vries and co-workers⁴⁶ report positivity of Melan-A in 100% of frozen uveal melanoma sections analyzed. It may therefore be possible that there is a higher reactivity of the antibody in frozen sections as compared to paraffinembedded cases. Several studies^{13,64} have reported lower reactivity of HMB-45, S-100 protein, and Melan-A in paraffin-embedded sections than in frozen sections. However, there is the possibility of false-negative results in paraffin-embedded tissues since some antigens do not survive fixation and embedding procedures. As well, specimens may lose antigenicity over time, therefore older tissues may not react as well as newer ones. Conversely, false-positive results may be a problem in the

case of S-100 protein due to the lack of specificity of this antibody^{42,64}. Although HMB-45 has recently been described to be positive in non-melanocytic tumours outside of the eye⁵⁶⁻⁶⁰, it was not found to stain non-melanocytic ocular tumours^{42,51} and remains to be very specific for melanocytes. Melan-A is also very specific for melanocytes^{12,13,43,44,45}. Therefore, no false-positive results should be seen for these two antibodies. It is, however, important to emphasize that paraffin-embedded sections represent a permanent record of cases, which can be examined over a long period of time, therefore, allowing for the investigation of a larger series of cases.

HMB-45 and S-100 protein were found to be positive in 94% of uveal melanomas. These results are consistent with the literature^{42,51,63}. Steuhl and co-workers⁵¹ found S-100 protein to be positive in 91% of uveal melanomas and HMB-45 in more than 95% of uveal melanomas. Martins and co-workers⁶³ found HMB-45 to be positive in 100% of cases and S-100 in 75% of ocular melanomas.

In accordance with other investigators^{14,42,63} a grading system from 0 to 3, denoting negative to strong staining, was used to determine the intensity of the immunohistochemical reaction. Thus providing an effective qualitative analysis of all specimens. The intensity of the immunostain was strongest with HMB-45, while Melan-A and S-100 protein showed similar staining intensity. The reasons for variable intensity are not well defined. Possibly, antigen expression is decreased in some cells as opposed to others. Thus, less antibody binds and the intensity is weaker. Another possibility may be that the antibody is not binding sufficiently during the immunohistochemical procedure, causing a weaker intensity to be observed. It can be noted that the use of all three markers combined will allow an increased number of positive cases to be detected, as all cases that stained negatively for one of the immunomarkers, showed positivity for at least one other marker.

Also, in accordance with other investigators^{13,44,45,46}, a grading system based on the percentage of tumour cells staining positively is applied to determine focal versus diffuse staining of each tumour. This allows for the quantitative analysis of the immunostaining. Melan-A was found to stain greater than 50% of melanoma cells in 73.2% of cases. Therefore, Melan-A has a moderately diffuse staining pattern for uveal melanoma. Conversely, Melan-A was found to stain primary cutaneous lesions homogeneously¹³. HMB-45 stained 69.8% of uveal melanoma cases homogeneously while S-100 protein depicted an homogeneous staining pattern in 37.7% of tumours. Interestingly, de Vries and co-workers⁴⁶ found that greater than 75% of tumour cells were positive for Melan-A and HMB-45 in 80% of frozen sections investigated. Again this may be due to a higher reactivity seen in frozen sections or may reflect the sample population. While HMB-45 remains the best immunomarker for uveal melanoma, the same is not true for cutaneous melanoma. Blessing and co-workers¹² report that HMB-45 sensitivity is poor with patchy staining. Melan-A is not as intensely expressed in uveal melanoma, as compared to cutaneous melanoma. Melan-A stains both benign and melanocytic cutaneous lesions in a very similar fashion to \$100 protein, and more reliably than HMB-45¹².

Cell type and tumour size are the most important prognostic factors for uveal melanoma^{4,29}. Since it is impossible to determine time of metastasis, it would be helpful to have a diagnostic indicator to define patients who are at highest risk for developing metastases. This study examined the role of Melan-A in this context in the hopes that its staining pattern among different cell types would be of prognostic significance. However, there was no correlation found between Melan-A staining and cell type in this study. Melan-A is expressed in a range of tumours, from well to poorly differentiated, and of different cell types. Therefore, Melan-A staining does not correlate with prognosis.

It can be concluded that Melan-A is adequately expressed in uveal melanoma tumours since it is positive in 73.2% of paraffin-embedded sections and exhibits a moderately diffuse staining pattern. As mentioned, HMB-45 remains the best immunomarker for uveal melanoma, however, Melan-A antibody can be included in the immunohistochemical profile of uveal melanoma.

Animal Studies

The albino rabbit animal model, which is developed using human uveal melanoma cell lines, was used to study antigen expression in metastatic lesions, due to the difficulty of obtaining metastatic lesions from uveal melanoma patients. Antigen expression in the primary uveal melanoma tumour developed in the albino rabbit was also studied and compared with the findings obtained in the human studies section of this report.

47

Melan-A and HMB-45 immunostains were investigated in primary and metastatic uveal melanoma lesions developed in the albino rabbit, since they specifically recognize melanoma-associated antigens Melan-A and gp100, respectively. It is therefore possible to assess Melan-A and gp100 expression in the cases examined.

Although S-100 protein is a good immunohistochemical marker for uveal melanoma, it will not be considered in the group of possible immune targets due to its highly expressive nature in many tissues. Significantly lower staining for S-100 has been reported in metastatic uveal melanoma and S-100 is less reliable in the diagnosis of difficult cases of undifferentiated metastases⁸⁸.

HMB-45 and Melan-A were positive in all primary and metastatic uveal melanoma lesions developed in the albino rabbit. HMB-45 stained more intensely and more homogeneously in the primary tumour than seen for Melan-A staining. This is consistent with the results obtained in the human studies section of this report. Eventhough both HMB-45 and Melan-A stained all metastatic lesions diffusely, HMB-45 showed a stronger staining intensity than Melan-A. The finding for HMB-45 is in accordance with studies performed on human specimens. In a study of 29 primary uveal melanoma tumours with corresponding metastases, Luyten and co-workers⁸⁸ found that HMB-45 was the most sensitive immunohistochemical marker for the analysis of metastatic uveal melanoma. The most aggressive cell types kept

their immunoreactivity for HMB-45⁸⁸. In contrast, HMB-45 showed negative and focal staining in cutaneous metastatic lesions⁶⁴.

A more heterogeneous staining pattern was seen for Melan-A in the primary uveal melanoma tumours developed in the albino rabbit as compared to the human studies. Melan-A stained less than 50% of melanoma cells in 81.8% of cases. However, Melan-A was found to stain all metastatic lesions in an homogeneous fashion. In contrast, Melan-A was found to stain primary cutaneous tumours homogeneously, and metastatic lesions in a heterogeneous fashion¹³.

HMB-45 exhibited a more homogeneous staining pattern in the primary tumour than Melan-A, yet both depicted homogeneous staining patterns in metastatic lesions. Interestingly, an increase in both Melan-A and gp100 antigen expression is seen during metastatic progression of uveal melanoma. However, de Vries and coworkers⁴⁶ report a lower expression of these antigens in 4 metastatic uveal melanoma lesions analyzed. Due to the small number of lesions examined, this finding may not be significant. In fact, de Vries and co-workers⁴⁶ suggest that further examination of these antigens in metastatic uveal melanoma lesions is warranted. The findings in this present study are opposite to results in cutaneous melanoma. Kageshita and coworkers¹³ discovered that gp100 and Melan-A antigen expression is decreased with disease progression, while Marincola and co-workers⁴⁵ found that less than 50% of metastatic cutaneous lesions stained for Melan-A. The loss of melanoma-associated antigen expression in cutaneous melanoma suggests that downregulation may occur in vivo and could contribute to tumour escape from immune recognition⁴⁵. Is it possible that melanoma-associated antigens in uveal melanoma are not downregulated because the immune system has not been primed to fight against these cells? In such a case, it may seem plausible to suggest that the cells would not need to utilize immune escape mechanisms, thereby owing to the high antigen expression on these cells.

The increase in antigen expression during disease progression of uveal melanoma is a significant finding since antigens chosen as targets for immunotherapy must be adequately expressed on tumour cells. It can be concluded that melanoma-associated antigens, Melan-A and gp100, are adequately expressed in the metastatic uveal melanoma lesion and may be excellent candidates as tumour targets for immunotherapeutic strategies. Furthermore, since both Melan-A and gp100 antigens are expressed by the primary and metastatic lesion, it can be hypothesized that these same antigens are present on the cells while they undergo metastatic dissemination. Melan-A and gp100 antigens would therefore be effective tumour targets to detect circulating malignant cells in uveal melanoma patients.

It is interesting to examine the morphology of tumour cells in the primary lesion versus the metastatic site. For instance, the MKT-BR cell line exhibits mainly spindle cells in the primary tumour and mainly epithelioid cells in the metastatic lesion. Do different cell lines produce metastases? Do spindle cell lines have fewer metastases than epithelioid cell lines? Can cells differentiate outside their place of origin? MKT-BR cell line does not develop metastases as efficiently as more poorly differentiated cell lines. The Sp6.5 cell line, which is composed of highly pleomorphic epithelioid cells, was found to more efficiently produce ocular tumours and metastatic disease⁸. Different cell lines allow early to late stage disease to be examined and support the idea that epithelioid cells are more strongly associated with metastatic disease than spindle cells. A significant higher percentage of epithelioid cells was found in metastatic uveal melanoma compared with the primary melanoma⁸⁸. This finding is consistent with our animal studies, in which all metastates were comprised of a majority of epithelioid cells.

Future Implications on Clinical Management of Uveal Melanoma

Since MART-1/Melan-A and gp100 mRNA are detectable in patients with cutaneous melanoma¹⁵⁻¹⁹, and it is now known that uveal melanoma cells express these antigens, then we suspect that they will be good markers to detect circulating malignant cells in uveal melanoma patients. Consistent with other reports^{12,13}, this study provides early experimental data to support the use of melanoma-associated antigen-related peptides in the vaccination of melanoma patients. Coulie and co-workers¹¹⁴ found Melan-A to be expressed in 100% of cutaneous melanoma lesions through RT-PCR technique. Chen and co-workers¹²² determined Melan-A expression through immunohistochemical analysis and RT-PCR for mRNA expression. They found that 16 of 17 cutaneous melanoma lesions expressed both Melan-A mRNA and positive immunostaining.

51
Staining patterns have to be interpreted in the full knowledge of their potential limitations¹². In order to develop successful immunotherapeutic strategies, it is important to carefully map the melanoma antigens by immunohistochemistry on biopsy material from the melanoma patient before treatment is started¹¹. Although this method is accessible for cutaneous melanoma, it is impossible for uveal melanoma unless the eye is enucleated. If metastasis is possible in small and medium sized tumours, cases in which the eye is not enucleated, how can antigen expression be assessed? Detection of circulating malignant cells is the key.

Why are these issues so important for uveal melanoma? It is impossible to define the exact time when cells metastasize and to follow metastatic progression in uveal melanoma. Do only epithelioid cells metastasize? This would seem to be the case since all metastatic lesions from our animal studies were composed of epithelioid cells. However, it may be possible that spindle cells are capable of metastasizing and transforming during dissemination, thus owing to the epithelioid population in the metastatic lesion. This would suggest that small tumours composed of spindle cells might be able to undergo metastases as well as larger tumours. To further complicate issues, what are these cells, which undergo hematogeneous dissemination, doing for an average of 6.5 years? Do they remain in the circulation or do the cells plant themselves in the liver waiting for an opportune time to grow? Since metastatic disease is undetectable until the liver is affected, there is a need to focus on the detection of subclinical metastases, namely circulating malignant cells. This early

detection of tumour cells may provide a means of preventing clinical metastases from occurring altogether, by altering treatment for the patient.

The Importance of Immunotherapy for Uveal Melanoma

Metastasis from uveal melanoma occurs on average 6.5 years after removal of the primary tumour⁶. Uveal melanoma cells have an affinity for the liver, and once hepatic metastasis is detected, life expectancy for the patient is between two to seven months and fatal in all cases⁸⁸. There is no staging for uveal melanoma to give warning signals. It can be likened to a game of Russian roulette. It is pertinent that research be directed towards treatment of metastatic disease and most importantly, towards prevention of hepatic involvement. For these reasons, the ability to detect circulating malignant cells is crucial to the survival of uveal melanoma patients.

Uveal melanoma represents an almost unique tumour in having histopathologically distinguishable sub-populations of cells with differing metastatic capabilities. Spindle cells are rarely found in metastases, whereas epithelioid cells, with their lack of cohesiveness, have a high potential to metastasize⁴. If viable malignant cells naturally selected for their metastatic potential are circulating, their detection in patients with a negative metastatic work-up could initiate treatment such as chemotherapy that could pre-empt metastasis formation and may even, therefore, be curative for the patient once the primary lesion has been removed.

53

Since we do not normally expect melanocytes to be present in the peripheral circulation, the detection of MAA mRNA is a suitable indicator of the presence of circulating melanocytes¹⁸. In accordance with previous studies in cutaneous melanoma^{15,17} which apply a multiple marker assay to account for heterogeneity, a multiple marker assay including both MART-1/Melan-A and gp100 could increase the detection of circulating uveal melanoma cells. It may be possible that while treatment is localized to the primary tumour, there are already viable cells circulating in the peripheral blood. These cells are not affected by treatment and go on to form metastatic lesions years after surgery.

In detecting circulating malignant cells in uveal melanoma patients who do not have metastatic disease, it may be possible to classify these patients into two treatment groups independent of their ocular tumour. That is to say, that for patients without metastasis and in whom no circulating malignant cells are present, local treatment is the treatment of choice. However, if circulating malignant cells are identified in some patients whom do not have metastatic spread then an alternate form of treatment will be administered. Hence, the detection of tumour dissemination at an early stage, rather than detection of metastasis, would be of clinical benefit to the patient.

CONCLUSIONS

Human Studies

- 1. mAb Melan-A merits inclusion in the immunohistochemical profile of uveal melanoma.
- 2. mAb Melan-A does not correlate with prognosis for uveal melanoma.

Animal Studies

- 1. mAbs Melan-A and HMB-45 are positive in all primary and metastatic uveal melanoma lesions.
- 2. In contrast to cutaneous melanoma, melanoma-associated antigens, Melan-A and gp100, are upregulated during disease progression in uveal melanoma.
- 3. Melan-A and gp100 antigens may be effective immunomarkers to detect circulating malignant cells and for potential immunotherapeutic techniques in uveal melanoma. Studies in these areas should be investigated.

REFERENCES

- 1. Egan KM, Seddon JM, Glynn RJ, Gragoudas ES, Albert DM: Epidemiologic aspects of uveal melanoma. *Surv Ophthalmol.* 32:239-251; 1988
- 2. Cutler SJ, Young JL. Third National Cancer Survey. Incidence data. NCI Monograph. Vol 41. Bethesda: NIH:1-9; 1975
- Tumors of the retina. McLean IW, Burnier Jr. MN, Zimmerman LE, Jakobiec FA. In: J. Rosai and L. H. Sobin (eds.), Tumors of the Eye and Ocular Adnexa. Atlas of Tumour Pathology. Washington: Armed Forces Institute of Pathology:101; 1994
- 4. Malignant melanoma of the uveal tract. McLean IW, Burnier MN Jr., Zimmerman L, Jakobiec FA. In: J. Rosai and L. H. Sobin (eds.), Tumours of the Eye and Ocular Adnexa. Atlas of Tumour Pathology. Washington: Armed Forces Institute of Pathology:161-194; 1994
- 5. Diener-West M, Hawkins B, Markowitz JA, Schachat AP: A review of mortality from choroidal melanoma. A meta-analysis of 5-year mortality rates following enucleation, 1966 through 1988. Arch Ophthalmol. 110:245-250; 1992
- 6. Gamel JW, McLean IW, Rosenberg SH: Proportion cured and mean log survival time as functions of tumour size. *Stat Med.* 9:999-1006; 1990
- 7. Zimmerman LE, McLean IW: Does enucleation of the eye containing a malignant melanoma prevent or accelerate dissemination of tumour cells? Br J ophthalmol. 62:420-425; 1978
- 8. Lopez R, Saornil MA, Rabano G, Blanco G, Morilla A, Ordonez JL, Aguirre C, Fernandez N, Pastor JC: Development of experimental choroidal tumours from different melanocytic cell lines in albino rabbits. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 39(suppl):284; 1998
- 9. Marchand M et al: Tumour-regression responses in melanoma patients treated with a peptide encoded by gene MAGE-3. *Int J Cancer.* 63:883-885; 1995
- Dalerba P, Ricci A, Russo V, Rigatti D, Nicotra MR, Mottolese M, Bordignon C, Natali PG, Traversari C: High homogeneity of MAGE, BAGE, GAGE, tyrosinase, and melan-A/MART-1 gene expression in clusters of multiple simultaneous metastases of human melanoma: implications for protocol design of therapeutic antigen-specific vaccination startegies. Int J Cancer. 77:200-204; 1998

- 11. De Vries TJ, Fourkour A, Wobbes T, Verkroost G, Ruiter DJ, van Muijen GNP: Heterogeneous expression of immunotherapy candidate proteins gp100, MART-1, and tyrosinase in human melanoma cell lines and in human melanocytic lesions. *Cancer Res.* 57:3223-3229; 1997
- 12. Blessing K, Sanders DSA, Grant JJH: Comparison of immunohistochemical staining of the novel antibody melan-A with S-100 protein and HMB-45 in malignant melanoma and melanoma variants. *Histopathology*. 32:139-146; 1998
- 13. Kageshita T, Kawakami Y, Hirai S, Ono T: Differential expression of MART-1 in primary and metastatic melanoma lesions. *J Immunotherapy*. 20:460-465; 1997
- 14. Jungbluth AA, Busam KJ, Gerald WL, Stockert E, Coplan K, Iversen K, MacGregor DP, Old LJ, Chen Y-T: A103 – an anti-melan-a monoclonal antibody for the detection of malignant melanoma in paraffin-embedded tissues. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 22:595-602; 1998
- 15. Curry B, Myers K, Hersey P: Polymerase chain reaction detection of melanoma cells in the circulation: relation to clinical stage, surgical treatment, and recurrence from melanoma. *J Clin Oncology.* 16:1760-1769; 1998
- Sarantou T, Chi DDJ, Garrison DA, Conrad AJ, Schmid P, Morton DL, Hoon DSB: Melanoma-associated antigens as messenger RNA detection markers for melanoma. *Cancer Res.* 57:1371-1376; 1997
- 17. Probst-Kepper M, Schrader A, Buer J, et al: Detection of melanoma cells in peripheral blood stem cell harvests of patients with progressive metastatic malignant melanoma. *Br J Hematol.* 98:488-490; 1997
- 18. Hoon DSB, Wang Y, Dale PS, Conrad AJ, Schmid P, Garrison D, Kuo Christine, Foshag LJ, Nizze AJ, Morton DL: Detection of occult melanoma cells in blood with a multiple-marker polymerase chain reaction assay. *J Clin Oncol.* 13:2109-2116; 1995
- 19. Smith B, Selby P, Southgate J, Pittman K, Bradley C, Blair GE: Detection of melanoma cells in peripheral blood by means of reverse transcriptase and polymerase chain reaction. *Lancet.* 338:1227-1229; 1991
- 20. Marincola FM, Rivoltini L, Salgaller ML, Player M, Rosenberg SA: Differential anti-MART-1/Melan-A CTL activity in peripheral blood of HLA-A2 melanoma patients in comparison to healthy donors: evidence of in vivo priming by tumour cells. *J Immunotherapy*. 19:266-277; 1996

- 21. Cole DJ, Wilson MC, Rivoltini L, Custer M, Nishimura MI: T-cell receptor repertoire in matched MART-1 peptide-stimulated peripheral blood lymphocytes and tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes. *Cancer Res.* 57:5320-5327; 1997
- 22. Jager E, Ringhoffer M, Arand M, Karbach J, Jager D, Ilsemann C, Hagedorn M, Oesch F: Cytolytic T cell reactivity against melanoma-associated differentiation antigens in peripheral blood of melanoma patients and healthy individuals. *Melanoma Res.* 6:419-425; 1996
- 23. Zajac P, Oertli D, Spagnoli GC, Noppen C, Schaefer C, Heberer M, Marti WR: Generation of tumoricidal cytotoxic T lymphocytes from healthy donors after in vitro stimulation with a replication-incompetent vaccinia virus encoding MART-1/Melan-A 27-35 epitope. Int J Cancer. 71:491-496; 1997
- 24. Mauer MJ, Gollin SM, Martin D, Swaney W, Bryant J, Castelli C, Robbins P, Parmiani G, Storkus WJ, Lotze MT: Tumour escape from immune recognition: lethal recurrent melanoma in a patient associated with downregulation of the peptide transporter protein TAP-1 and loss of expression of the immunodominant MART-1/Melan-A antigen. J Clin Invest. 98:1633-1641; 1996
- 25. Shields CL, Shields JA, Milite J, De Potter P, Sabbagh R, Menduke H: Uveal melanoma in teenagers and children: a report of 40 cases. *Ophthalmol.* 98:1662-1666, 1991
- 26. Scotto J, Fraumeni JF Jr., Lee JA: Melanomas of the eye and other noncutaneous sites: epidemiologic aspects. JNCI. 56:489-491; 1976
- 27. Margo CE, McLean IW: Malignant melanoma of the choroid and ciliary body in black patients. *Arch Ophthalmol.* 102:77-79; 1984
- 28. Gallagher RP, Elwood JM, Rootman J: Epidemiologic aspects of intraocular malignant melanoma. *Cancer Treat Res.* 43:73-84; 1988
- 29. Uveal nevi and malignant melanomas. Spencer WH, Zimmerman LE, McLean IW. In: Spencer WH. Ed. Ophthalmic Pathology Vol III. Philadelphia: WB Saunders. 2121-2168; 1994
- 30. Singh AD, Wang MX, Donoso LA, Shields CL, De Potter P, Shields JA: Genetic aspects of uveal melanoma: a brief review. Sem. in Oncol. 23:768-772; 1996
- 31. Singh AD, Shields CL, De Potter P, Shields JA, Trock B, Cater J, Pastore D: Familial uveal melanoma-I: clinical observations on 56 patients. Arch Ophthalmol. 114:392-399; 1996

- 32. Sisley K, Cottam DW, Rennie IG, Parsons MA, Potter AM, Potter CW, Rees RC: Non-random abnormalities of chromosomes 3, 6, and 8 associated with posterior uveal melanoma. *Genes Chrom Cancer.* 5:197-200; 1992
- 33. Soparker CN, O'Brien JM, Albert DM: Investigation of the role of the ras protooncogene point mutation in human uveal melanomas. *Invest Ophthalmol* Vis Sci. 34:2203-2209; 1993
- Ziegler A, Lefell DJ, Kunala S: Mutation hotspots due to sunlight in the p53 gene of nonmelanoma skin cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 90:4216-4220; 1993
- Yanoff M, Zimmerman LE: Histogenesis of malignant melanomas of the uvea II: relationship of uveal nevi to malignant melanomas. *Cancer.* 20:493-507; 1967
- 36. Gonder JR, Shields JA, Albert DM, Augsburger JJ, Lavin PT: Uveal malignant melanoma associated with ocular and oculodermal melanocytosis. *Ophthalmol.* 89:953-960; 1982
- 37. Callender GR: Malignant melanotic tumours of the eye: A study of histologic types in 111 cases. Trans Am Acad Ophthalmol Otolaryngol. 36:131-142; 1931
- 38. McLean IW, Zimmerman LE, Evans RM: Reappraisal of Callender's spindle A type of malignant melanoma of the choroid and ciliary body. Am J Ophthalmol. 86:557-564; 1978
- McLean IW, Foster WD, Zimmerman LE, Gamel JW: Modifications of Callender's classification of uveal melanoma at the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology. Am J Ophthalmol. 96:502-509; 1983
- 40. Wilder HC, Paul EV: Malignant melanoma of the choroid and ciliary body: a study of 2,535 cases. *Mil Surg.* 109:370-378; 1951
- 41. Shields JA, Shields CL: Massive orbital extension of posterior uveal melanomas. Ophthal Plas Reconstr Surg. 7:238-251; 1991
- 42. Burnier MN Jr., McLean IW, Gamel JW: Immunohistochemical evaluation of uveal melanocytic tumours. *Cancer.* 68:809-814; 1991
- 43. Orchard GE: Melan-A (MART-1): a new monoclonal antibody for malignant melanoma diagnosis. *Br J Biomed Sci.* 55:8-9; 1998

- 44. Nicotra MR, Nistico P, Mangoni A, Di Filippo F, Marincola FM, Natali PG: Melan-A/MART-1 antigen expression in cutaneous and ocular melanomas. J Immunotherapy. 20;466-469; 1997
- 45. Marincola FM, Hijaz YM, Fetsch P, Salgaller ML, Rivoltini L, Cormier J, Simonis TB, Duray PH, Herlyn M, Kawakami Y, Rosenberg SA: Analysis of expression of the melanoma-associated antigens MART-1 and gp100 in metastatic melanoma cell lines and in in situ lesions. *J Immunotherapy*. 19:192-205; 1996
- 46. de Vries TJ, Trancikova D, Ruiter DJ, van Muijen GN: High expression of immunotherapy candidate proteins gp100, MART-1, tyrosinase, and TRP-1 in uveal melanoma. *Br J Cancer*. 78:1156-1161; 1998
- 47. Adema GJ, de Boer AJ, van't Hullenaar R, Denijn M, Ruiter DJ, Vogel AM, Figdor CG: Melanocyte lineage-specific antigens recognized by monoclonal antibodies NKI-beteb, HMB-50, and HMB-45 are encoded by a single cDNA. *Am J Pathol.* 143:1579-1585; 1993
- 48. Adema GJ, de Boer AJ, Vogel AM, Loenen WA, Figdor CG: Molecular characterization of the melanocyte lineage-specific antigen gp100. J Biol Chem. 269:20126-20133; 1994
- 49. Chiamenti AM, Vella F, Bonetti F, Pea M, Ferrari S, Martignoni G, Benedetti A, Suzuki H: Anti-melanoma monoclonal antibody HMB-45 on enhanced chemiluminescence-westeern blotting recognizes a 30-35 kDa melanosome-associated sialated glycoprotein. *Melanoma Res.* 6:291-298; 1996
- 50. Taatjes DJ, Arendash-Durand B, von Turkovich M, Trainer TD: HMB-45 antibody demonstrates melanosome specificity by immunoelectron microscopy. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 117:264-268; 1993
- 51. Steuhl KP, Rohrbach JM, Knorr M, Thiel HJ: Significance, specificity, and ultrastructural localization of HMB-45 antigen in pigmented ocular tumours. *Ophthalmol.* 100:208-215; 1993
- 52. Schaumberg-Lever G, Metzler G, Kaiserling E: Ultrastructural localization of HMB-45 binding sites. *J Cut Pathol.* 18:432-435; 1991
- 53. Kikuchi A, Shimizu H, Nishikawa T: Expression and ultrastructural localization of HMB-45. Br J Dermatol. 135:400-405; 1996
- 54. Cheng H, Sun Gj, Thiele B, Wolff HH: The recognition of UV-irradiation melanocyte with HMB-45 monoclonal antibody. Chinese Med J. 107:225-229; 1994

- 55. Skelton HG 3d, Smith KJ, Barrett TL, Lupton GP, Graham JH: HMB-45 staining in benign and malignant melanocytic lesions. A reflection of cellular activation. *Am J Dermatopathol.* 13:543-550; 1991
- 56. Ashfaq R, Weinberg AG, Albores-Saavedra J: Renal angiomyolipomas and HMB-45 reactivity. *Cancer.* 15:3091-3097; 1993
- 57. Colombari R, Mombello A, Bonzanini M, Scarpa A, Ghimenton C: Melanocyte marker HMB-45 is regularly expressed in angiomyolipoma of the kidney. *Pathol.* 23:185-188; 1991
- 58. Bonsib SM: HMB-45 reactivity in renal leiomyomas and leiomyosarcomas. Modern Pathol. 9:664-669; 1996
- 59. Zimmer C, Gottschalk J, Goebel S, Cervos-Navarro J: Melanoma-associated antigens in tumours of the nervous system: an immunohistochemical study with the monoclonal antibody HMB-45. Virch Arch. 420:121-126; 1992
- 60. Hancock C, Allen BC, Herrera GA: HMB-45 detection in adenocarcinomas. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 115:886-890; 1991
- 61. Moore BW: A soluble protein characteristic of the nervous system. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 19:739-744; 1965
- 62. Takahashi K, Isobe T, Ohtsuki Y, Agaki T, Sonobe H, Okuyama T: Immunohistochemical study on the distribution of alpha and beta subunits of S100 protein in human neoplasms and normal tissues. Virch Arch. 45:385-396; 1984
- 63. Martins MC, Scull JJ, Alcocer CE, Deschenes J, Antecka E, Burnier MN Jr: Immunohistochemical expression of S-100 beta in choroidal melanomas. Cdn J Ophthalmol. 32:378-381; 1997
- 64. Ordonez NG, Xiaolong J, Hickey RC: Comparison of HMB-45 monoclonal antibody and S-100 protein in the immunohistochemical diagnosis of melanoma. *Am J Clin Pathol.* 90:385-390; 1988
- 65. Mooy CM, De Jong PTVM: Prognostic parameters in uveal melanoma: a review. Surv Ophthalmol. 41:215-228; 1996
- 66. McLean IW, Foster WD, Zimmerman LE: Uveal melanoma: location, size, cell type, and enucleation as risk factors in metastasis. *Hum Pathol.* 13:123-132; 1982
- 67. Mclean IW: Prognostic features of uveal malignant melanoma. Ophthalmol Clin NAm. 8:143-153; 1995

- 68. Shields CL, Shields JA, Kiratli H: Risk factors for metastasis of small choroidal melanocytic lesions. *Ophthalmol.* 102:1351-1361; 1995
- 69. White VA, Chambers JD, Courtright PD, Chang WY, Horsman DE: Correlation of cytogenetic abnormalities with the outcome of patients with uveal melanoma. *Cancer.* 83:354-359; 1998
- 70. Sisley K, Rennie IG, Parsons MA, Jacques R, Hammond DW, Bell SM et al: Abnormalities of chromosome 6 and 8 in posterior uveal melanoma correlate with prognosis. *Genes Chrom Cancer*. 19:22-28; 1997
- 71. Prescher G, Bornfeld N, Hirche H, Horsthemke B, Jockel K-H, Becher R: Prognostic implications of monosomy 3 in uveal melanoma. *Lancet*. 347:1222-1225; 1996
- 72. McLean IW, Keefe SK, Burnier MN: Uveal melanoma: comparison of the prognostic value of fibrovascular loops, mean of the ten largest nucleoli, cell type, and tumour size. *Ophthalmol.* 104:777-780; 1997
- 73. McLean IW, Sibug ME, Becker RL, McCurdy JB: The importance of large nucleoli in predicting patient outcome an automated image analysis study. *Cancer.* 79:982-988; 1997
- 74. Pe'er J, Rummelt V, Mawn L, Hwang T, Woolson RF, Folberg R: Mean of the ten largest nucleoli, microcirculation architecture, and prognosis of ciliochoroidal melanomas. *Ophthalmol.* 101:1227-1235; 1994
- 75. Coleman K, Baak JPA, Van Diest PJ, Mullaney J: Prognostic value of morphometric features and the callender classification in uveal melanomas. *Ophthalmol.* 103:1634-1641: 1996
- 76. McLean IW, Foster WD, Zimmerman LE: Prognostic factors in small malignant melanomas of the choroid and ciliary body. Arch Ophthalmol. 95:48-58; 1977
- 77. De la Cruz PO, Specht CS, McLean IW: Lymphocytic infiltration in uveal malignant melanoma. *Cancer.* 65:112-115; 1990
- 78. Folberg R, Pe'er J, Gruman LM, Woolson RF, Jeng G, Montague PR, Moninger TO, Yi H, Moore KC: The morphologic characteristics of tumour blood vessels as a marker of tumour progression in primary uveal melanoma: a matched case-control study. *Hum Pathol.* 23:1298-1305; 1992
- 79. Folberg R, Rummelt V, Parys-Van Ginderdeuren R, Hwang T, Woolson RF, Pe'er J, Gruman LM: The prognostic value of tumour blood vessel morphology in primary uveal melanoma. *Ophthalmol.* 100:1389-1398; 1993

- 80. Folberg R, Mehaffey M, Gardner LM, Meyer M, Rummelt V, Pe'er J: The microcirculation of choroidal and ciliary body melanomas. *Eye.* 11:227-238; 1997
- 81. Durie FH, Campbell AM, Lee WR, Damato BE: Analysis of lymphocytic infiltration in uveal melanoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 31:2106-2110; 1990
- 82. Whelchel JC, Farah SE, McLean IW, Burnier Jr. MN: Immunohistochemistry of infiltrating lymphocytes in uveal malignant melanoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 34:2603-2606; 1993
- 83. Ksander BR, Rubsamen PE, Olsen KR, Cousins SW, Streilein JW: Studies of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes from a human choroidal melanoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 32:3198-3208; 1991
- 84. Zimmerman LE, McLean IW: Do growth and onset of symptoms of uveal melanomas indicate subclinical metastasis? *Ophthalmol.* 91:685-691; 1984
- 85. Shields JA, Shields CL, De Potter P, Singh AD: Diagnosis and treatment of uveal melanoma. Sem in Oncol. 23:763-767; 1996
- 86. Sato T, Babazono A, Shields JA, Shields CL, De Potter P, Mastrangelo MJ: Time to systemic metastases in patients with posterior uveal melanoma. *Cancer Invest.* 15:98-105; 1997
- 87. McLean IW: The biology of hematogenous metastasis in human uveal melanoma. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat. 422:433-437; 1993
- 88. Luyten GP, Mooy CM, Post J, Jensen OA, Luider TM, de Jong PT: Metastatic uveal melanoma. A morphological and immunohistochemical analysis. *Cancer.* 78:1967-1971; 1996
- Salmon RJ, Levy C, Plancher C, Dorval T, Desjardins L, Leyvraz S, Pouillart P, Schlienger P, Servois V, Asselain B: Treatment of liver metastasis from uveal melanoma by combined surgery-chemotherapy. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 24:127-130; 1998
- 90. Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study Group (COMS): The COMS randomized trial of pre-enucleation radiation of large choroidal melanoma II: Initial mortality findings. COMS report No. 10. Am J Ophthalmol. 125:779-796; 1988
- 91. Gunlap I, Batioglu F: effect of pre-enucleation irradiation on the survival of patients with uveal melanoma. *Ophthalmologica*. 212:231-235; 1998

- 92. Albert DM: Needs for animal models of human diseases of the eye: induced animal models of ocular disease with particular consideration of ocular melanoma. *Am J Pathol.* 101(suppl 3):177-185; 1980
- 93. Albert DM, Rabson AS, Dalton AJ: In vitro neoplastic transformation of uveal melanoma and retinal tissue by oncogenic DNA viruses. *Invest Ophthalmol.* 7:357-365; 1968
- 94. Taylor GN, Dougherty TF, Mays CW, Lloyd RD, Atherton DR, Jee WS: Radium induced eye melanoma in dogs. *Radiat Res.* 51:361-373; 1972
- 95. Syed NA, Windle JJ, Darjatmoko SR, Lokken JM, Albert DM: Natural history of a transgenic murine model of intraocular melanoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 36(suppl):770; 1995
- 96. Greene HS, Harvey EK: The growth and metastasis of amelanotic melanomas in heterologous hosts. *Cancer Res.* 26:706-714; 1966
- 97. Kan-Mitchell J, Mitchell MS, Rao N, Liggett PE: Characterization of uveal melanoma cell lines that grow as xenografts in rabbit eyes. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 30:829-834; 1989
- 98. Hu LK, Huh K, Gragoudas ES, Young LH: Establishment of pigmented choroidal melanomas in a rabbit model. *Retina*. 14:264-269; 1994
- 99. Liggett PE, Lo G, Pince KJ, Rao NA, Pascal SG, Kan-Mitchel J: Heterotransplantation of human uveal melanoma. *Graefes Arch Clin Exp* Ophthalmol. 231:15-20; 1993
- 100. De Smet C, Lurquin C, de Plaen E, Brasseur F, Zarour H, De Backer O, Coulie PG, Boon T: Genes coding for melanoma antigens recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes. *Eye*. 11:243-248; 1997
- 101. Van den Eynde, Boon T: Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes. Int J Clin Res. 27:81-86; 1997
- 102. Haas GG Jr., D'Cruz OJ, De Bault LE: Distribution of human leukocyte antigen-ABC and -D/DR antigens in the unfixed human testis. Am J Reprod Immunol Microbiol. 18:47-51; 1988
- 103. Jassim A, Ollier W, Payne A, Biro A, Oliver RTD, Festenstein H: Analysis of HLA antigens on germ cells in human semen. Eur J Immunol. 19:1215-1220; 1989

- 104. Mulcahy KA, Rimoldi D, Brasseur F, Rodgers S, Lienard D, Marchand M et al: Infrequent expression of the MAGE gene family in uveal melanomas. Int J Cancer. 66:738-742; 1996
- 105. Boon T: Toward a genetic analysis of tumour rejection antigens. Adv Cancer Res. 58:177-210; 1992
- 106. Wolfel T, Hauer M, Schneider J, Serrano M, Wolfel C, Klehmann-Hieb E, DePlaen E, Hankeln T, Meyer zum Buschenfelde K-H, Beach D: A p16ink4ainsensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic T lymphocytes in a human melanoma. Science. 269:1281-1284; 1995
- 107. Robbins PF, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Kawakami Y, Loftus D, Apella E, Rosenberg SA: A mutated β-catenin gene encodes a melanoma-specific antigen recognized by tumour infiltrating lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 183:1185-1192; 1996
- 108. Foss AJE, Guille MJ, Occleston NL, Hykin PG, Hungerford JL, Lightman S: The detection of melanoma cells in peripheral blood by reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction. *Brit J Cancer.* 72:155-159; 1995
- 109. Tobal K, Sherman LS, Foss AJE, Lightman S: Detection of melanocytes from uveal melanoma in peripheral blood using the polymerase chain reaction. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 34:2622-2625; 1993
- 110. Damato BE, Campbell AM, McGuire BJ, Lee WR, Foulds WS: Monoclonal antibodies to human primary uveal melanomas demonstrate tumour heterogeneity. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 27:1362-1367; 1986
- 111. Brouwenstijn N, Slager EH, Bakker AB, Schreurs MW, Van der Spek CW, Adema GJ, Schrier PI, Figdor CG: Transcription of the gene encoding melanoma-associated antigen gp100 in tissues and cell lines other than those of the melanocytic lineage. Br J Cancer. 76:1562-1566; 1997
- 112. Adema GJ, Bakker AB, de Boer AJ, Hohenstein P, Figdor CG: pMel17 is recognised by monoclonal antibodies NKI-beteb, HMB-45, and HMB-50, and by anti-melanoma CTL. *Br J Cancer*. 73:1044-1048; 1996
- 113. Wagner SN, Wagner C, Hofler H, Atkinson MJ, Goos M: Expression cloning of the cDNA encoding a melanoma-associated antigen recognized by mAb HMB-45. Identification as melanocyte-specific Pmel17 cDNA. Lab Invest. 73:229-235; 1995

- 114. Coulie PG, Brichard V, Van Pel A, Wolfel T, Schneider J, Traversari C, Mattei S, De Plaen E, Lurquin C, Szikora J-P, Renauld J-C, Boon T: A new gene coding for a differentiation antigen recognized by autologous cytolytic T lymphocytes on HLA-A2 melanomas. J Exp Med. 180:35-42; 1994
- 115. Kawakami Y, Eliyahu S, Delgado CH, Robbins PF, Rivoltini L, Topalian SL, Miki T, Rosenberg SA: Cloning of the gene coding for a shared human melanoma antigen recognized by autologous T cells infiltrating into tumour. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 91:3515-3519; 1994
- 116. Sakai C, Kawakami Y, Law LW, Furumura M, Hearing VJ Jr: Melanosomal proteins as melanoma-specific immune targets. *Melanoma Res.* 7:83-95; 1997
- 117. Belkhou R, Mykita S, Meyer L, Sahel J, Abbe JC, Dreyfus H, Massarelli R: Effet létal de la réaction de capture neutronique du bore sur des cellules de mélanome uvéal humain en culture incubées avec la borophénylalanine. Cancérologie. 315:485-491; 1992
- 118. Diebold Y, Blanco G, Saornil MA, Lazaro MC, et al: Morphological and immunocytochemical characteriazation of four human uveal melanoma cell lines (melanoma- and melanocytes-derived). Curr Eye Res. 16:487-495; 1997
- 119. Soulieres D, Rousseau A, Deschenes J, Tremblay M, Tardiff M, Pelletier G: Characterization of gangliosides in human uveal melanoma cells. Int J Cancer. 49:498-503; 1991
- 120. De Waard-Siebinga I, Blom DJ, Griffioen M, Schrier PI, Hoogendoorn E, Beverstock G, Danen EH, Jager MJ: Establishment and characterization of a uveal-melanoma cell line. Int J Cancer. 62:155-61; 1995
- 121. Krohn DL, Brandt R, Morris DA, Keston AS: Subchoroidal transplantation of experimental malignant melanoma. *Am J Ophthalmol.* 70:753-756; 1979
- 122. Chen YT, Stockert E, Jungbluth A, Tsang S, Coplan KA, Scanlan MJ, Old LJ: Serological analysis of Melan-A (MART-1), a melanocyte-specific protein homogeneously expressed in human melanomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 93:5915-5919; 1996